
 
Agenda compiled by: 
Tel No: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
 

 
Helen Gray 
247 4355 
 
 
 

 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

A 

 

 

 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

 
MEETING TO BE HELD IN CIVIC HALL, LEEDS ON 

 
MONDAY, 13TH FEBRUARY, 2012 AT 10.00 AM 

 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
S Armitage - Cross Gates and Whinmoor; 

K Bruce - Rothwell; 

R Downes - Otley and Yeadon; 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

   PRELIMINARY PROCEDURES 
 

 

1     ELECTION OF THE CHAIR 
 

 

2   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting) 
 
 

 



 

C 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
 
1) To highlight reports or appendices which: 
  
a) officers have identified as containing exempt 

information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
b) To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
c) If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
those parts of the agenda designated as 
containing exempt information on the grounds that 
it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to 
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information 
 
2) To note that under the Licensing Procedure 
rules, the press and the public will be excluded 
from that part of the hearing where Members will 
deliberate on each application  as it is in the public 
interest to allow the Members to have a full and 
frank debate on the matter before them. 
 

 

4   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify any applications as late items of 
business which have been admitted to the agenda 
for consideration 
 
 (the special circumstances shall be identified in 
the minutes) 
 
 

 



 

D 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

5   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Members are reminded to declare any interests at 
the start of the hearing on each application for the 
purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local Government 
Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of the Members 
Code of conduct 
 
 

 

   HEARINGS 
 

 

6   
 

City and 
Hunslet; 

 "DELI POLSKA" - APPLICATION FOR THE 
REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE FOR DELI 
POLSKA (POLISH DELICATESSE), 171 
DEWSBURY ROAD, HUNSLET, LEEDS LS11 
5EG 
 
To consider the report of the Head of Licensing 
and Registration on an application received for the 
Review of the premises licence held at the 
premises known as “Deli Polska”, 171 Dewsbury 
Road, Hunslet, Leeds LS11 5EG. The application 
is made under Section 51 of the Licensing Act 
2003 by West Yorkshire Police 
 
(Report attached) 
 
 

1 - 38 

 



Report of the Head of Licensing and Registration

Report to the Licensing Sub Committee 

Date:  Monday 13th February 2012 

Subject: Review of a Premises Licence for Deli Polska (Polish Delicatesse), 171 
Dewsbury Road, Hunslet, Leeds, LS11 5EG 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City & Hunslet 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Executive Summary 

This report informs Members of an application for the review of a Premises Licence under 

Section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003, sought by West Yorkshire Police in respect of Deli 

Polska, 171 Dewsbury Road, Hunslet, Leeds, LS11 5EG. The Licensing Authority is now 

under a duty to review the Premises Licence held by these premises. 

1.0 Purpose of this Report

1.1 This report provides Members with the background and history to the making of the 
review. The report sets out the relevant law when reviewing licences under the 
Licensing Act 2003 (“the Act”), and informs members of the options available to them 
when reviewing a premises licence. 

2.0 Background Information 

2.1 An application for the grant of a Premises Licence was received by the Licensing 
Authority on 26th January 2009. The application was made to licence a Polish 
Delicatessen with the authority to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises. 

Report Author:  Mr Matthew Nelson 

Tel:   0113 247 4095  

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



2

During the consultation period representation was received from West Yorkshire 
Police offering suggested measures to promote the prevention of crime and disorder. 
These measures were agreed by the applicant prior to the hearing. 

However a total of 22 representations remained outstanding from local residents 
whose primary concerns were in relation to crime & disorder and the prevention of 
public nuisance. In particular, their concerns focused on exasperating the problem of 
underage drinking and youths congregating within the local area. Other mutual 
concerns highlighted excessive litter and parking issues. 

 The application proceeded to hearing on 20th April 2009 where Members considered 
 the written and verbal submissions made on behalf of the applicant. The committee 
 also considered the representations received from local residents. 

  Members appreciated the problems in the area and the strength of local feeling.
  However, they felt there was no evidence to show that this application would add to 
  those problems. As there was no evidence that this application would add to the 
  problems in the area, the licensing sub committee resolved to grant the application 
  as applied for, subject to the agreement reached with West Yorkshire Police and 
  measures offered within the Pro-Forma Risk assessment. 

2.0  Premises Licence 

2.1  The Premises Licence Holder is Miss Makgorzata Czerwiec.

2.2 A copy of the Premises Licence can be found at Appendix A of this report.

2.2 In summary, the Premises Licence permits the following:

Sale by retail of alcohol (for consumption off the premises) 
 08:00 until 22:00 hrs Monday to Saturday 
 09:00 until 22:00 hrs Sunday 

The times when the premises are open to the public:
 08:00 until 22:00 hrs Monday to Saturday 
 09:00 until 22:00 hrs Sunday 

3.0 Designated Premises Supervisor 

3.1 The Designated Premises Supervisor for the premises is Mr Karl Brown. 

4.0 Location 

4.1 Maps which identify the location of the premises are attached at Appendix B. 

5.0 Main Issues

5.1  The review is being sought by West Yorkshire Police on the grounds of the 
prevention of crime & disorder. A copy of the review application is located at 
Appendix C of this report. 

5.2  Documentary Evidence to support the review on the grounds described above can 
be found at Appendix D. 

Page 2



3

5.3  As part of the review procedure, details of the review and an outline of the grounds 
on which the review is requested must be displayed at the premises for a period of 
28 days, commencing the day after the application is received. 

5.4 Such notices were duly placed on prominent display at the premises on 22nd

December 2011 and checked on a regular basis. The notices were removed at the 
end of the consultation period on 18th January 2012. 

5.5  Section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 places the Licensing Authority under a duty to 
 review the premises Licence in respect of Deli Polska. A summary of the procedure 
 followed in accordance with the Act is attached to this report by way of a flow chart 
 at Appendix E. 

6.0 Relevant Representations

6.1  Under the Act representations can be received from responsible authorities or 
 interested parties. Representations must be relevant and, in the case of an 
 interested party, must not be frivolous or vexatious. 

6.2 Representation from Responsible Authorities

6.2.1 A representation has been received from Environmental Health in their capacity as 
a Responsible Authority. Member’s attention is drawn to Appendix F of this report. 

6.3 Representation from Interested Parties

6.3.1 The application has not attracted any representation from interested parties. 

7.0 Matters Relevant to the Application

7.1 Members of the Licensing Sub Committee must make decisions with a view to 
promoting the licensing objectives which are: 

7.1.1 the prevention of crime and disorder; 
7.1.2 public safety; 
7.1.3 the prevention of public nuisance; and 
7.1.4 the protection of children from harm. 

7.2 In making their decision Members are obliged to have regard to guidance issued 
under Section 182 of the Act, a copy of the relevant section is attached at Appendix 
G. Members must also have regard to the Council’s licensing policy (paragraphs 
5.99 to 5.117), the relevant representations made and evidence they hear. 

8.0 Implications for Council Policy and Government

8.1 It is the stated licensing policy of the Council that when considering a review the 
authority will take into account all relevant circumstances, but will view the matters 
listed in paragraph 12.13 of the policy with particular seriousness. 

9.0 Legal and Resource Implications

9.1 There are no resource implications in determining the review. 

Page 3



4

9.2 The Act provides the right to appeal on any decision reached on review. The right of 
 appeal is to the Magistrate’s Court. 

10.0 Recommendations

10.1 Members are requested to determine this review. The Committee must take such of 
 the following steps as it considers necessary for the promotion of the licensing 
 objectives: 

10.1.1 to modify the conditions of the licence (which includes adding new 
conditions or any alteration or omission of an existing condition); 

10.1.2 exclude any licensable activities to which the application relates; 
10.1.3 to remove the Designated Premises Supervisor; 
10.1.4 to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months; and/or 
10.1.5 to revoke the licence. 

10.2 Members may alternatively decide that no action is necessary and that the 
 circumstance of the review does not require the Committee to take any steps to 
 promote the licensing objectives. 

10.3 Members should note the Guidance also suggests it is open to Members to issue 
 an informal warning to the licence holder or to recommend improvement within a 
 particular time. However the Guidance further provides that where responsible 
 authorities have already issued such warnings, the issuing of another warning 
 should not be repeated. 

10.4 Members of the Licensing Committee are asked to note that they may not take any 
 of the steps outlined above merely because they consider it desirable to do so. It 
 must actually be necessary in order to promote the licensing objectives. 

11.0 Background Papers 

11.1 Guidance issued under s182 Licensing Act 2003
11.2 Leeds City Council Statement of Licensing Policy

Page 4



Appendix A

Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



T
h

is
 m

a
p

 i
s
 b

a
s
e

d
 u

p
o

n
 t

h
e

 O
rd

in
a

n
c
e

 S
u

rv
e

y
’s

 d
ig

it
a

l 

d
a
ta

 w
it
h
 t
h

e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 O

rd
in

a
n

c
e

 S
u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 

b
e
h
a

lf
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
n

tr
o
lle

r 
o
f 

H
e

r 
M

a
je

s
ty

’s
 S

ta
ti
o
n

a
ry

 O
ff
ic

e

©
 U

n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u

c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t 

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a

d
 t
o

 p
ro

s
e
c
u

ti
o
n

 o
r 

c
iv

il 
p
ro

c
e
e
d
in

g
s

L
e
e
d

s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

O
.S

. 
L
ic

e
n

c
e

 N
o

 1
0
0

0
0
1
9

5
6
7

©
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t 

a
ll 

ri
g
h

ts
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
d

T
it

le
:

S
u

b
 T

it
le

:

D
a

te
:

S
c

a
le

:

K
e
y

P
R

E
M

/0
2

7
0

2
/0

0
2

 -
 D

e
li

 

P
o

ls
k

a

1
7

1
 D

e
w

s
b

u
ry

 R
o

a
d

, 
H

u
n

s
le

t,
 

L
e

e
d

s
, 

L
S

1
1

 5
E

G

0
1

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
2

1
:2

2
5

0

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

B

Page 9



T
h

is
 m

a
p

 i
s
 b

a
s
e

d
 u

p
o

n
 t

h
e

 O
rd

in
a

n
c
e

 S
u

rv
e

y
’s

 d
ig

it
a

l 

d
a
ta

 w
it
h
 t
h

e
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 O

rd
in

a
n

c
e

 S
u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 

b
e
h
a

lf
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
n

tr
o
lle

r 
o
f 

H
e

r 
M

a
je

s
ty

’s
 S

ta
ti
o
n

a
ry

 O
ff
ic

e

©
 U

n
a
u
th

o
ri
s
e
d
 r

e
p
ro

d
u

c
ti
o
n
 i
n
fr

in
g
e
s
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t 

a
n
d
 m

a
y
 l
e
a

d
 t
o

 p
ro

s
e
c
u

ti
o
n

 o
r 

c
iv

il 
p
ro

c
e
e
d
in

g
s

L
e
e
d

s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

O
.S

. 
L
ic

e
n

c
e

 N
o

 1
0
0

0
0
1
9

5
6
7

©
 C

ro
w

n
 C

o
p
y
ri
g
h
t 

a
ll 

ri
g
h

ts
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
d

T
it

le
:

S
u

b
 T

it
le

:

D
a

te
:

S
c

a
le

:

K
e
y

P
R

E
M

/0
2

7
0

2
/0

0
2

 -
 D

e
li

 

P
o

ls
k

a

1
7

1
 D

e
w

s
b

u
ry

 R
o

a
d

, 
H

u
n

s
le

t,
 

L
e

e
d

s
, 

L
S

1
1

 5
E

G

0
1

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
2

1
:8

0
0

0

Page 10



Appendix C

Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



Application for a 
Premises licence/club 
premises certificate

review received      

REJECT

No

More guidance on how to 
determine if a review 
application/ an interested party 
review representation is 
relevant.
See para 5.99 of the guidance issued 
under section 182 plus section 51(4) and 
51(5) of the Act. In summary:  
Is the application made on the prescribed 
form. (This is a legal requirement) Does 
the application relate to one or more of the 
licensing objectives? Is the representation 
repetitious? Does the applicant live in the 
vicinity of the premises? 
Has the premises licence been the subject 
of any similar representations within the 
past twelve months on similar grounds to 
the grounds now expressed in this review 
application? Is the application frivolous or 
vexatious? 

Create a review record in UNIFORM 
linked to the original premises 
licence/club premises certificate record. 
Set appropriate fields to invalid in 
validation screen in UNIFORM software 
and generate return letter including 
details of reason application is being 
rejected. print two copies off. One for 
the applicant and one for the file. 
Ensure UNIFORM record shows invalid 
application and return a copy of the 
application to the applicant. 

Validate application in 
UNIFORM software. 

Place the file in the correct 
location in the ‘Reviews 
pending’ cabinet. Create a 
diary reminder using the lotus 
notes software or paper diary 
reminder for when the 28 day 
notice period expires and 
await any further 
representations from other 
interested parties or 
responsible authorities. 

NB: The file will remain in the
‘reviews pending cabinet’ until the 
notice period expires.  

Next 
Page

Book application into 
post system as per 
QP(EL)01, and date 
stamp items.

Take out premises file which review  
relates to. Insert review application 
into new file, label and then attach to 
original file with an elastic band. 
Pass through to relevant Licensing 
Officer.

Create a review record in UNIFORM 
linked to the original premises 
licence/club premises certificate record. 
(unless otherwise stated all references 
to updating records in UNIFORM from 
this point forward  are to the new 
review file)  

QP(EL)27   Edition No 4 Rev 3 30 April 2008     Page 3 of 5

Who has 
made the 
review 
application? 

A responsible 
authority. 

Interested Party eg. 
A member of the 
public, a business  

Is the 
application 
relevant? 

Yes

Send a notice to each of the parties 
listed below informing them that the 
application has been accepted and 
include the final date on which 
representations can be made. 

a) The applicant 
b) The premises licence holder  
c) The DPS if applicable 
d) Each responsible authority 

In the case of the notice to the 
responsible authorities this should be 
made electronically. 

ADVERTISE THE REVIEW
Prepare a blue review notice 
using the UNIFORM software. 
Refer to the premises map in 
UNIFORM and calculate how 
many blue notices will be needed 
to meet the requirements of the 
Act. (see regulation 38 of SI 2005 
no 42) Print off an appropriate 
number of blue notices, laminate 
and liaise with the enforcement 
section re placement and dates 
etc. Also affix one of the notices 
to the notice board in the St 
George House reception. Please 
note the notices must be 
displayed starting with the day 
after the day on which we 
received the review application 
for a period of 28 consecutive 
days.

NB: Please note all 
representations must 
be booked into the 
post system as per 
QP(EL)01 before 
being passed through 
to the appropriate 
Licensing officer.     

Acknowledge any further representations in writing and 
subject any new interested party representations to the 
usual relevance test. (see the guidance box above for 
more detail) At the end of the 28 day notice period move 
to the next stage.

Appendix E

Page 29



Await copy of panel decision letter from 
Governance Services and return of paper file 
from Regulatory and Enforcement. (Upon arrival 
of decision letter file copy of letter in application 
file and update UNIFORM accordingly.) 

QP(EL)27   Edition No 4 Rev 3 30 April 2008     Page 4 of 5

Contact Governance Services 
and ask for a committee hearing 
date within 20 working days.   

Once Governance Services provide the 
hearing date and time use UNIFORM to 
prepare a notice of hearing document and 
send to the premises licence holder or their 
agent, any interested parties which have made 
relevant representations plus any responsible 
authorities if applicable. Place a copy of each 
of the cover letters on the file. Place the file in 
the filing system. Please note these documents 
must be dispatched no later than ten working 
days before the day of the hearing. (Regulation 
2 – Statutory Instrument 2005 No.78 The 
Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Amendment 
Regulations 2005)

Prepare a committee report using the appropriate word template 
extracting the relevant details from UNIFORM regarding the applicant, 
premises details, grounds for a review, information on any additional 
representations etc and enter into the report.   

Have you prepared all applicable appendixes as 
detailed below?  

 Appendix A: Location map of premises 
printed from UNIFORM (if applicable) 

 Appendix B: copy of application form 

 Appendices for each responsible authority 
representation if any 

 An appendix for all interested party 
representations if any 

 Any other applicable correspondence 
related to the review process 

 The standard final table ‘aide memoir’ of 
relevant sections of the S182 guidance and 
our licensing policy. 

Hand deliver a hard copy of the report to 
Governance Services ready for dispatch to 
each of the relevant parties. The report 
should be sent to Governance Services at 
least ten days before the hearing is due to 
commence so there is sufficient time to 
dispatch it to all relevant parties including 
members. (Please note this is an in house 
recommended timescale and not a statutory 
requirement)

No
Yes

Approximately three days ahead of the hearing take out the file 
from the filing system and complete a final tidy up of the file. 
Take the file up to Regulatory and Enforcement as per below:  
Friday hearings, file goes up on Thursday, Monday hearings, file 
goes up on Friday.    

Acknowledge any further representations in writing and 
subject any new interested party representations to the 
usual relevance test. (see the guidance box above for 
more detail) At the end of the 28 day notice period move 
to the next stage.

Did the Committee resolve to make any of the following 
changes? 
a) To modify the conditions of the licence  
b) To exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the 

licence  
c) To remove the designated premises supervisor 
d) To suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 

three months 
e) To revoke the licence.

No

Confirm with Governance 
Services the date of 
dispatch of the decision 
letter and then set a diary 
reminder for [date of 
dispatch] + 2 days + 21 
days. 

Yes

No further 
action required. 
Return the file 
to the filing 
system. 

At the end of the 21 
day appeal period 
enquire with 
Regulatory and 
Enforcement if an 
appeal has been 
lodged.  

Has an appeal 
been lodged? 

The premises review determination is superseded 
by the appeal and the determination of the 
Licensing Committee may or may not take effect 
until the Magistrates have determined the appeal. 
No further action required pending the appeal 
decision. Return the file to the filing system. 

Yes

If the licence holder has not 
already surrendered their licence 
write to them and ask for the 
licence to be surrendered. 

No

RE-ISSUE/REVOKE LICENCE
In all cases make void the surrendered licence. If the decision of the 
Licensing Committee was not a revocation, prepare the amended 
licence subject to the decision of the Licensing Committee. Print the 
licence summary and full licence plus the cover letter. Pass through to 
the Senior Licensing Officer for final checking and dispatch. Place a 
copy of the licence on the file, dispatch a copy to the police and return 
the file to the filing system.Page 30



www.leeds.gov.uk general enquiries 0113 222 4444 

Dear Sir/Madam 

RE: APPLICATION FOR REVIEW OF PREMISES LICENCE, DELI POLSKA 
POLISH DELICATESSEN, 171 DEWSBURY ROAD, BEESTON, LEEDS, LS11 5EG.  

I refer to your e mail dated 21st December 2011 regarding the application to review the 
premises licence of the above premises by West Yorkshire Police. 

Following the inspection of details held by this Department, I can confirm that previous 
enforcement action has been taken by this service. A complaint was received in 2009 
regarding the storage of waste at the premises. An inspection was subsequently carried out 
which revealed that the operator of the shop, a Ms Czerwiec, had no commercial waste bin 
or commercial waste contract.

On the 10/02/09 Ms Czerwiec was served with a legal notice to obtain an appropriate 
commercial bin and commercial waste collection contract. Unfortunately, a fixed penalty 
notice (FPN) had to be served as Ms Czerwiec failed to comply with the requirements of the 
waste notice. After a number of delays a commercial bin and waste collection contract was 
put in place, however, further reminders had to be given before the FPN was eventually paid. 

A notice was also served on Ms Czerwiec requiring her to provide details of how she had 
been disposing of her waste. Ms Czerwiec informed the investigating officer that she had 
been depositing her waste in the bins of one of her other businesses in Leeds Market, but 
this would now stop. Therefore, no further action was taken in relation to this issue.

To date no further complaints have been received and this section has no further relevant 
comments to make. 

Yours faithfully 

M Bird 
Senior Environmental Health Officer 

Environmental protection team 
Leeds City Council 
Knowsthorpe Gate 
Cross Green 
Leeds  LS9 0NP 

Contact: M Bird
Tel: 0113 3951162
Fax:

Our reference:  PREM/02702/002 

Entertainment Licensing 
Legal Services
Leeds City Council 

4 January 2012 

Appendix F

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



THE REVIEW PROCESS

11.1 The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for

reviewing premises licences represent a key

protection for the community where problems

associated with the licensing objectives are

occurring after the grant or variation of a

premises licence.

11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises

licence, a responsible authority, or an

interested party, may ask the licensing

authority to review the licence because of a

matter arising at the premises in connection

with any of the four licensing objectives.

11.3 The Regulations allow applications for reviews

to be made electronically, as long as the

licensing authority agrees and the applicant

submits a subsequent written application.

The licensing authority may also agree in

advance that the application need not be given

in writing. However, these applications are

outside the formal electronic application

process and may not be submitted via

businesslink or the licensing authority’s

electronic facility.

11.4 In addition, a review of the licence will

normally follow any action by the police to

close down the premises for up to 24 hours on

grounds of disorder or noise nuisance as a

result of a notice of magistrates’ court’s

determination sent to the licensing authority.

11.5 Licensing officers may not initiate their own

reviews of premises licences, but elected

members of the licensing authority may

request reviews if they are concerned about

licensed activities at a premises or such

matters are brought to their attention (see

paragraph 8.15 above). Officers of the local

authority who are specified as responsible

authorities under the 2003 Act, such as 

environmental health officers, may also request

reviews on any matter which relates to the

promotion of one or more of the licensing

objectives.

11.6 Representations made by a department of the

local authority which is a responsible authority

should be treated by the licensing authority in

precisely the same way that they would treat

representations made by any other body or

individual.

11.7 In every case, the representation must relate to

particular premises for which a premises

licence is in existence and must be relevant to

the promotion of the licensing objectives. After

a licence or certificate has been granted or

varied, a complaint relating to a general (crime

and disorder) situation in a town centre should

generally not be regarded as a relevant

representation unless it can be positively tied

or linked by a causal connection to particular

premises, which would allow for a proper

review of the licence or certificate. For

instance, a geographic cluster of complaints,

including along transport routes related to an

individual public house and its closing time

could give grounds for a review of an existing

licence as well as direct incidents of crime and

disorder around a particular public house.

11.8 Representations must be in writing and may be

amplified at the subsequent hearing or may

stand in their own right. Additional

representations which do not amount to an

amplification of the original representation

may not be made at the hearing.

11.9 It is important to recognise that the promotion

of the licensing objectives relies heavily on a

partnership between licence holders,

authorised persons, interested parties and

responsible authorities in pursuit of common 

98

11. Reviews

Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
Appendix F Appendix G

Page 33



99

Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

aims. It is therefore equally important that

reviews are not used to drive a wedge between

these groups in a way that would undermine

the benefits of co-operation. It is good practice

for authorised persons and responsible

authorities to give licence holders early

warning of their concerns about problems

identified at the premises concerned and of

the need for improvement. A failure to respond

to such warnings is expected to lead to a

decision to request a review.

11.10 Where the request originates with an

interested party – e.g. a local resident,

residents’ association, local business or trade

association – the licensing authority must first

consider whether the complaint made is

relevant, vexatious, frivolous or repetitious.

11.11 Further information for interested parties about

the review process is available in “Guidance for

interested parties: applying for a review” which

can be found on the DCMS website.

REPETITIOUS REPRESENTATIONS

11.12 Relevance, vexation and frivolousness were

dealt with in paragraphs 9.8 – 9.13 above. A

repetitious representation is one that is

identical or substantially similar to:

• a ground for review specified in an earlier

application for review made in relation to

the same premises licence which has already

been determined; or

• representations considered by the licensing

authority when the premises licence was

first granted; or

• representations which would have been

made when the application for the premises

licence was first made and which were

excluded then by reason of the prior issue 

of a provisional statement;

and, in addition to the above grounds, a

reasonable interval has not elapsed since that

earlier review or the grant of the licence.

11.13 Licensing authorities are expected to be aware

of the need to prevent attempts to review

licences merely as a second bite of the cherry

following the failure of representations to

persuade the licensing authority on earlier

occasions. It is for licensing authorities

themselves to judge what should be regarded

as a reasonable interval in these circumstances.

However, the Secretary of State recommends

that more than one review originating from an

interested party should not be permitted

within a period of twelve months on similar

grounds save in compelling circumstances or

where it arises following a closure order.

11.14 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds

that it is repetitious does not apply to

responsible authorities which may make more

than one request for a review of a premises

within a 12 month period.

11.15 When a licensing authority receives a request

for a review from a responsible authority or an

interested party or in accordance with the

closure procedures described in Part 8 of the

2003 Act, it must arrange a hearing. The

arrangements for the hearing must follow the

provisions set out by the Secretary of State in

regulations. The details may be viewed on the

DCMS website. The Secretary of State

considers it particularly important that the

premises licence holder is fully aware of the

representations made in respect of the

premises, any evidence supporting the

representations and that they or their legal

representatives have therefore been able to

prepare a response.

Page 34



POWERS OF A LICENSING AUTHORITY

ON THE DETERMINATION OF A REVIEW

11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for

the licensing authority on determining a

review that it may exercise where it considers

them necessary for the promotion of the

licensing objectives.

11.17 The licensing authority may decide that no

action is necessary if it finds that the review

does not require it to take any steps necessary

to promote the licensing objectives. In addition,

there is nothing to prevent a licensing

authority issuing an informal warning to the

licence holder and/or to recommend

improvement within a particular period of

time. It is expected that licensing authorities

will regard such warnings as an important

mechanism for ensuring that the licensing

objectives are effectively promoted and that

warnings should be issued in writing to the

holder of the licence. However, where

responsible authorities like the police or

environmental health officers have already

issued warnings requiring improvement –

either orally or in writing – that have failed as

part of their own stepped approach to

concerns, licensing authorities should not

merely repeat that approach.

11.18 Where the licensing authority considers that

action under its statutory powers are necessary,

it may take any of the following steps:

• to modify the conditions of the premises

licence (which includes adding new

conditions or any alteration or omission of

an existing condition), for example, by

reducing the hours of opening or by requiring

door supervisors at particular times;

• to exclude a licensable activity from the

scope of the licence, for example, to exclude

the performance of live music or playing of

recorded music (where it is not within the

incidental live and recorded music

exemption);

• to remove the designated premises supervisor,

for example, because they consider that the

problems are the result of poor management;

• to suspend the licence for a period not

exceeding three months;

• to revoke the licence.

11.19 In deciding which of these powers to invoke,

it is expected that licensing authorities should

so far as possible seek to establish the cause 

or causes of the concerns which the

representations identify. The remedial action

taken should generally be directed at these

causes and should always be no more than a

necessary and proportionate response.

11.20 For example, licensing authorities should be

alive to the possibility that the removal and

replacement of the designated premises

supervisor may be sufficient to remedy a

problem where the cause of the identified

problem directly relates to poor management

decisions made by that individual.

11.21 Equally, it may emerge that poor management

is a direct reflection of poor company practice

or policy and the mere removal of the

designated premises supervisor may be an

inadequate response to the problems

presented. Indeed, where subsequent review

hearings are generated by representations, it

should be rare merely to remove a succession

of designated premises supervisors as this

would be a clear indication of deeper problems

which impact upon the licensing objectives.

100

Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 35



101

Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

11.22 Licensing authorities should also note that

modifications of conditions and exclusions of

licensable activities may be imposed either

permanently or for a temporary period of up 

to three months. Temporary changes or

suspension of the licence for up to three

months could impact on the business holding

the licence financially and would only be

expected to be pursued as a necessary means

of promoting the licensing objectives. So, for

instance, a licence could be suspended for a

weekend as a means of deterring the holder

from allowing the problems that gave rise to

the review to happen again. However, it will

always be important that any detrimental

financial impact that may result from a

licensing authority’s decision is necessary and

proportionate to the promotion of the

licensing objectives.

REVIEWS ARISING IN CONNECTION

WITH CRIME

11.23 A number of reviews may arise in connection

with crime that is not directly connected with

licensable activities. For example, reviews may

arise because of drugs problems at the

premises or money laundering by criminal

gangs or the sale of contraband or stolen

goods there or the sale of firearms. Licensing

authorities do not have the power to judge the

criminality or otherwise of any issue. This is a

matter for the courts of law. The role of the

licensing authority when determining such a

review is not therefore to establish the guilt or

innocence of any individual but to ensure that

the crime prevention objective is promoted.

Reviews are part of the regulatory process

introduced by the 2003 Act and they are not

part of criminal law and procedure. Some

reviews will arise after the conviction in the

criminal courts of certain individuals but not

all. In any case, it is for the licensing authority

to determine whether the problems associated

with the alleged crimes are taking place on the

premises and affecting the promotion of the

licensing objectives. Where a review follows a

conviction, it would also not be for the

licensing authority to attempt to go behind

any finding of the courts, which should be

treated as a matter of undisputed evidence

before them.

11.24 Where the licensing authority is conducting a

review on the ground that the premises have

been used for criminal purposes, its role is

solely to determine what steps should be taken

in connection with the premises licence, for

the promotion of the crime prevention

objective. It is important to recognise that

certain criminal activity or associated

problems may be taking place or have taken

place despite the best efforts of the licensee

and the staff working at the premises and

despite full compliance with the conditions

attached to the licence. In such circumstances,

the licensing authority is still empowered to

take any necessary steps to remedy the

problems. The licensing authority’s duty is to

take steps with a view to the promotion of the

licensing objectives in the interests of the

wider community and not those of the

individual holder of the premises licence.

11.25 As explained above, it is not the role of a

licensing authority to determine the guilt or

innocence of individuals charged with licensing

or other offences committed on licensed

premises. There is therefore no reason why

representations giving rise to a review of a

premises licence need be delayed pending the

outcome of any criminal proceedings. As stated

above, at the conclusion of a review, it will be

for the licensing authority to determine on the

basis of the application for the review and any

relevant representations made, what action

needs to be taken for the promotion of the

Page 36



licensing objectives in respect of the licence in

question, regardless of any subsequent

judgment in the courts about the behaviour of

individuals.

11.26 There is certain criminal activity that may arise

in connection with licensed premises, which

the Secretary of State considers should be

treated particularly seriously. These are the use

of the licensed premises:

• for the sale and distribution of Class A drugs

and the laundering of the proceeds of drugs

crime;

• for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms;

• for the evasion of copyright in respect of

pirated or unlicensed films and music, which

does considerable damage to the industries

affected;

• for the purchase and consumption of

alcohol by minors which impacts on the

health, educational attainment,

employment prospects and propensity 

for crime of young people;

• for prostitution or the sale of unlawful

pornography;

• by organised groups of paedophiles 

to groom children;

• as the base for the organisation of criminal

activity, particularly by gangs;

• for the organisation of racist activity or 

the promotion of racist attacks;

• for unlawful gaming and gambling; and

• for the sale of smuggled tobacco and alcohol.

11.27 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the

police and other law enforcement agencies,

which are responsible authorities, will use the

review procedures effectively to deter such

activities and crime. Where reviews arise and

the licensing authority determines that the

crime prevention objective is being

undermined through the premises being used

to further crimes, it is expected that revocation

of the licence – even in the first instance –

should be seriously considered. We would also

encourage liaison with the local Crime and

Disorder Reduction Partnership.

11.28 It should be noted that it is unlawful to

discriminate or to refuse service on grounds 

of race or by displaying racially discriminatory

signs on the premises. Representations made

about such activity from responsible

authorities or interested parties would be

relevant to the promotion of the crime

prevention objective and justifiably give rise 

to a review.

REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE

FOLLOWING CLOSURE ORDER

11.29 Licensing authorities are subject to certain

timescales, set out in the legislation, for the

review of a premises licence following a

closure order. The relevant time periods run

concurrently and are as follows:

• when the licensing authority receives 

notice that a magistrates’ court has made 

a closure order it has 28 days to determine

the licence review: The determination must

be made before the expiry of the 28th day

after the day on which the notice is

received;

• the hearing must be held within 10 working

days, the first of which is the day after the

day the notice from the magistrates’ court 

is received;

• notice of the hearing must be given no later 

than 5 working days before the first hearing

day. There must be five clear working days

between the giving of the notice and the

start of the hearing.

102

Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 "Deli Polska" - Application for the Review of a Premises Licence for Deli Polska (Polish Delicatesse), 171 Dewsbury Road, Hunslet, Leeds LS11 5EG
	02 Premises Licence - Appendix A
	03 Maps - Appendix B
	04 Application - Appendix C
	05 Documentary Evidence - Appendix D
	06 Review Flow Chart - Appendix E
	07 EHO Representation - Appendix F
	08 S182 Review Guidance - Appendix G


